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The Brigham's Tavern in Coventry Connecticut is a capacious, 2-story, 
central-chimney, clapboarded structure dating from the late 18th cen­ 
tury, with two substantial additions, one at the rear and the other 
along the west end of the house. Set back on a narrow lawn, once 
the Tavern's driveway, the Tavern faces south directly alongside the 
old Hartford to Boston Turnpike, now Route 44A. It is located just 
west of the Willimantic River and the hamlet of Mansfield Depot. 
The surrounding area is lightly settled and rural in character.

The main, center, section is the largest and probably dates c. 1778. 
The foundation of the main house exhibits several distinctive and 
well-craf&ed features. Particular care was exercised to lay the 
rough granite underpinning of the facade neatly, as the foundation 
is exposed as much as 2' above grade in places, due to the sloping site. 
A wide ledge extending from the foundation forms a paved area before 
the house; three huge stone slabs comprise the steps up tto the 
entrance. East of the house, set into the slope of the site away 
from the house is a field stone wall with a squared passageway lead­ 
ing at grade level to the cellar; this unusual tunnel was probably 
used as a delivery hatch for kegs of liquor served in the Tavern 
and stored in the cellar.

The facade of the Tavern is 5 bays wide. The windows are grouped 
closely; the 6-over-6 sash within them are undoubtedly not original 
as the center window, directly over the door contains the 12-over-12 
sash normally found in 18th-century houses* The door to the Tavern is 
unusually wide and is constructed of six boards hung on 3 long strap- 
hinges. A 7-light transom and simply molded cornice top the door. 
What appears to be a shallow end gable overhang is not; the level 
and raking cornice merely projects sharply from the gable wall which 
is on the same plane as the wall below. The central brick chimney 
has been re-built in the 20th century, though it retains its original 
proportions and is intact below the roof.

Both front and rear walls of the Tavern are sheathed with graduated 
clapboards, with narrow boards at the sill increasing in width up 
the wall. The use of graduated clapboards is thought to have been 
decorative and is said to have been confined exclusively to the 
facade1 ; hence, the graduated boarding of the rear wall of Brigham's 
Tavern should be noted as a rare exception.

To the east is an arcaded, 1-story portico connecting with the rear 
ell. The portico seems to date from the construction of the main 
house as the unevenly finished hewn posts and flush weather board­ 
ing of the lower east wall are consistent with a late 18th-century 
construction date.

The rear addition, if-stories tall, is a saltbox type with a long&.8is! ouse
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on the site, built prior to 1725. If this is so, the placement of the 
house with the long lean-to to the east suggests it was entered 
from the west (Photo 3). Though the interior has been altered and the 
original chimney was removed in the 1960s, there is a huge, careful­ 
ly finished summer beam, with a quarter-round bead, running north and 
south the length of the ell, providing evidence of the ell's age and 
original west-facing orientation. The framed outline of paired 
squares, one of which is a small window, on the north wall, is tanta- 
lizingly suggestive of the remnant of a casement window, which would 
indicate a very early construction d§te.

The other addition, to the west of the house, was altered in the 19th 
century when a dormer gable and veranda were added. This west 
addition is stated by the owner to have been constructed after the 
main house but several features seem to indicate that it may be con­ 
temporaneous with the main house. First, the clapboards extend without 
a break across the facades of both the main house and addition; though 
the clapboards probably are not original, their narrowness suggests 
they have considerable age. Secondly, the door treatment of the two 
is similar, both having multi-lighted transoms. Further, the angle 
of the roofline of both house and addition is identical. If they 
were not built at the same time, great care was taken with the addition's 
construction so that it would be compatible with the main house.

One last piece of evidence which may confirm that the addition is con­ 
temporaneous with the house, or, at least, that it was built shortly 
after and probably by the same builder, is the unusual framing of the 
roofs of the house and the addition. Though it is generally hel| that 
ridge-poles were used only with a purlin system of roof framing , both 
the house and addition roofs are framed with ridge-poles and no purlins. 
This is probably the idiosyncrasy of a certain local builder, who 
apparently framed both roofs.

The rafters of the main house once had collar beams, as their mortises, 
still pegged, testify. A set of beams, now part of the ceiling decor 
of one of the rooms in the addition, and clearly not structurally 
related to that room, look, by their size and length, curiously like 
the roof's missing collar beams. Perhaps an earlier owner carefully 
removed the beams, replacing the pegs, and brought them downstairs 
to add a note of colonial rusticity.

Over the years, alterations have been made to the interior of the 
Tavern. In addition to the alterations mentioned in the ell, there 
have been other changes to the house. The original kitchen of the
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main house has been divided and the hearth walled over. Other 
fireplace openings have been covered over. Elsewhere, some original 
wall surfaces have been sheathed over with modern materials and closets 
have been built into several rooms. The addition has been converted 
to an apartment and a second apartment, on the first floor, west of 
the entrance, has recently been completed.

Much of the original fabric is, however, retained. The doors off the 
entry porch to what were once the public rooms of the Tavern are or­ 
namented with cut-out heart shapes in the jamb, for ventilation. 
The tap room,to the west, still has a chair rail and panelled wainscot- 
ting. The bar, which survived until the 20th century but was subse­ 
quently lost, once stood at the far end of the room. The tap-room 
connects with the addition to the west so that, at one time, with the 
bar in between, the tap-room was approximately 29* long. On the second 
floor, at the east side, is a panelled partition which could swing up 
to form a ballroom or large meeting room for the Tavern. The original 
hardware for the partition and a chair rail which circles the entire 
ballroom are-jstill in place, as is simple fireplace panelling. In the 
right front room downstairs there is also simple panelling on the 
fireplace wall. There is no evidence of summer beams in any of the 
rooms, which is consistent with a late 18th-century construction date, 
but there are shallowly flared posts extant in several rooms, including 
the tap-room.

The other structure on the property is a c. 1870 barn. It is 3 floors 
tall, with the third floor suspended from the barn's rafters, in an 
unusual framing arrangement. Stone foundations east of the barn are 
those of another barn, blown down in the Hurricane of 1938. That 
barn was probably a late 18th- or early 19th-century structure.

2. Isham, Norman M., and Brown, Albert F., EARLY CONNECTICUT HOUSES, 
^ew York, Dover Publications, Inc., 1965, p. 231, and Kelly, J. Frederick, 
EARLY DOMESTIC ARCHITECTURE OF CONNECTICUT, New York, Dover Publications, 
Inc., 1963, p. 46.
i«,Kelly, J. Frederick, EARLY DOMESTIC ARCHITECTURE OF CONNECTICUT, 
New York, Dover Publications, Inc., 1963, P- 84.
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Brigham's Tavern is a commodious and well-maintained late 18th-century 
house. Prominently located along Route 44A in Coventry, the Tavern 
is historically a ignificant because for many years, from 1778 through 
the 19th century, it served wayfarers along what was then ajaa^or':r 
Hartford to Boston turnpike. Among its many guests, George Washington 
is numbered, even though the first President only breakfasted there. 5 
Though architecturally, it is a simple house of a common 18th-century 
type, it is also a carefully-crafted house of generous proportions with 
several unique and unusual features.

The Tavern,, viewed as a whole, is a complex and somewhat confusing 
artifact reflecting the many changes it has undergone in its long 
history. Reconstructing that history from the physical evidence and 
from the bits of historical data that exist on the house, is a some­ 
what tentative process. The house is composed of three main sections: 
while the rear ell is certainly older than the main house and addition, 
the house and addition probably date from the same period, if not 
the same time. Probable construction dates were deduced from land re­ 
cords, the Brigham genealogy and the physical fabric of the Tavern.

The progenitor of the Brigham family in the area was Blnathan Brigham, 
born in Marlborough, Massachusetts in 1683, who moved to Coventry in 
1717. Apparently a prosperous man who acquired substantial property 
before his death in 1765, Elnathan was referred to in deeds as being 
from Mansfield, the town just east of the Tavern, His son, Uriah, 
born in 1723, was, however, known as Uriah Brigham of Coventry. Uriah 
acquired 150 acres of land with build j-ngs, fences, orchards, and im­ 
provements from Mathias Marsh in 1753. The Wlllimantlo River Is cited 
as a partial boundary, a reference still used today. Marsh had, in 
ttrn, purchased the land, with "hous ̂ uid barn",from Jonathan Weeks 
of Palmouth, Massachusetts, in 1723. The rear ell, with its low, 
lean-to profile and huge summer beam, could date as early as 172g.

Uriah's son, Gershom, born in 1750, was the first tavern-keeper. In 
May of 1778, he was granted leave "to keep a house of entertainment 
where he dwells" on the "great road from Hartford to BostonV Many 
of the hduse's characteristics suggest that GBrshom.Brigham's house 
was originally constructed as a tavern. Its location,hard by a busy 
road, its ample size, and the exposed look of the facade, all 
seem to fit the commercial, public aspect of the Tavern's operation. 
The grade-level passage to the cellar, the ventilated doors, and the
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partitioned ballroom on the second floor are all indications that 
the house was built as a tavern. Further, the remaining physical 
evidence makes a late 18th-century construction date likely; thus, 
the 1778 licensing of the tavern Is a plausible construction date.

From the genealogical information and land records,then, it seems 
that Uriah Brigham was the first to live on the Tavern property, in 
the rear ell, which he purchased from Mathias Marsh and which was 
probably the 'nous* referredlto in Marsh's 1725 deed. Later, his , 
son, G-ershom,built the Tavern at some point prior to its licensing, 
in 1778. The west addition may have been built at the same time, or 
shortly thereafter.

Historically, the house is something of a local landmark. On November 
9, 1789, after spending the night in Mansfield, President George 
Washington, on his eastern tour, stopped to breakfast at Brigham f s. 
A stone tablet commemorates the event. Later, the incorporation of 
the Hartford to Boston Road as the Boston Turnpike in 1797 and its 
opening in 1808, insured a steady business to Brigham 1 s Tavern.

Architecturally, there are many particularly well-crafted features 
about the house. The masonry is of a consistently high quality: the 
underpinning and ledge at the facade are neatly laid and the passageway 
to the cellar is well-constructed. Both the ledge and passageway 
are unusual features of the construction, as is the use of graduated 
clapboards on the facade and rear walls. The interior woodwork is 
also skillfully executed, though of a standard type. While the swing­ 
ing partition in the ballroom is not rare in 18th-century taverns, 
its presence at Brigham 1 s confirms that Gershom Brigham intended his 
tavern to be as up-to-date as any other. The loss of the tap-room bar 
is unfortunate as the room is otherwise well-preserved, but few taverns 
have survived with their bars, so its loss is understandable.

Since the turn of the century, Brigham 1 s has been a private residence. 
It is pictured and described in Old Inns of Connecticut.

1. Coventry Land Records, Volume 4, page 138.
2. Coventry Land Records, Volume 1, page 304.
3. Crofut, Florence S. Marcy, GUIDE TO THE HISTORY AND HISTORIC SITES 
OF CONNECTICUT, New Haven, Yale University Press, 1937, p. 792.

4. Terry, Marian Dicklnson, OLD INKS OF CONNECTICUT, Hartford, 
irospect Press, 1937, pp. 213-220.
5. Fitzpatrick, Johiij, Diaries of George Washington, IV, p. 50, Nov. 9, 1789.


